1940

John Potter, David B. Potter, Jennie I. Potter, Sarah Potter Gibbs, Nettie Potter Miles, May Potter Stewart, Edith Potter Dewey v. Dr. W. H. Groves Latter-Day Saints Hospital : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE  
SUPREME COURT  
OF THE  
STATE OF UTAH

---

JOHN POTTER., DAVID B. POT-  
TER JENNIE I. POTTER,  
SARAH POTTER GIBBS, NET-  
TIE POTTER MILES, MAY  
POTTER STEWART, EDITH  
POTTER DEWEY,

*Plaintiffs and Respondents.*

*vs.*

DR. W. H. GROVES LATTER-  
DAY SAINTS HOSPITAL,  
a corporation,

*Defendant and Appellant.*

No. 6208

---

STATEMENT

---

The respondent, John Potter, is the surviving husband of Jennie Brown Potter, deceased; the remaining respondents are the surviving children. As the sole heirs of deceased, they commenced the instant action to recover damages for the death of their wife and mother while a patient in the hospital operated by appellant. The jury

returned a verdict in favor of respondents, in the amount of \$1,000.00; from the judgment entered on that verdict appellant appeals.

After alleging deceased's admission into the hospital, and appellant's duty to exercise due care in the treatment and nursing to which she was entitled, the complaint sets forth the acts of negligence on which respondents rely in the following language (paragraphs 6 and 7, Trans. 2-3; Abst. 3-4) :

“6. That contrary to its duty as above set out, defendant, by its agents and servants, carelessly and negligently, as more particularly hereinafter set out, allowed said Jean Brown Potter, deceased, to fall from bed and to suffer a broken hip as the result thereof, which fall and injury was the direct and proximate cause of the said Jean Brown Potter's death; that said fall and injury occurred on or about the 21st day of February, 1939, and that death occurred on or about the 23rd day of February, 1939.

“7. That the said Jean Brown Potter, deceased, prior to said injury on said 21st day of February, 1939, and continuously after her entering and admission into said hospital was nervous and at times irrational, and due and reasonable care required that the bed in which she was kept should be provided with sideboards to prevent said Jean Brown Potter, deceased, from falling out of said bed; and plaintiffs allege that prior to said 21st day of February, 1939, said defendant did so provide and maintain on said bed sideboards for the protection of said Jean Brown



Potter, deceased, but that said defendant on the night of said 21st day of February, 1939, did negligently and carelessly fail to provide for and place in position sideboards on said bed and negligently and carelessly failed to guard such bed and said Jean Brown Potter, deceased, so that by reason of said negligence and carelessness on the part of said defendant the said Jean Brown Potter, deceased did on said 21st day of February, 1939, fall out of the bed in which she was kept by defendant and as a result of said fall did suffer a broken hip and did as a result of said negligence and carelessness and said injury die on the 23rd day of February, 1939.”

Answering the two paragraphs, appellant, in its amended answer (Trans. 18-19; Abst. 6-7), admitted that deceased sustained a fall and suffered injuries, and died on February 23, 1939. Each and all of the remaining allegations were denied.

The affirmative defense of the amended answer (paragraph 9—Trans. 19-22; Abst. 8-12) alleges the relationship existing between the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, the Price First Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints (the corporation exercising jurisdiction over the “Ecclesiastical Ward” of which deceased was a member), and appellant; the manner in which appellant’s hospital is supported and maintained by the central church and the ecclesiastical wards; and the conditions on which deceased was admitted to the hospital as a patient.

For convenience, we quote the whole of paragraph 9 of the affirmative answer, following each sub-paragraph thereof with the substance of respondents' (plaintiffs') admissions and denials, made in open court, as to all of the matters alleged in the paragraph:

“(a) That at all times mentioned in said complaint, the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints has been and now is an unincorporated association, engaged in operating and maintaining hospitals, and, in said hospitals, in caring for and treating, without compensation, the indigent sick and injured members of said Church, and also engaged in promulgating and teaching generally the principles and tenets accepted and adopted by said Church; that in the carrying out of its purpose and object of operating and maintaining hospitals, the members and officers of said Church have caused corporations, similar to the defendant corporation, to be incorporated throughout the State of Utah and elsewhere, and that in the carrying out of its general purposes and objects, said members and officers have also caused other corporations sole, similar to the Price First Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, to which reference is hereinafter made, to be incorporated throughout the State of Utah and elsewhere, each of which said other corporations exercises local ecclesiastical jurisdiction over a given territory, commonly known and designated as an ‘Ecclesiastical Ward.’ ” (Trans. 19-20; Abst. 8-9.)

(It was stipulated by plaintiffs that the allegations of sub-paragraph (a) of paragraph 9 of defendant's amended answer, might be deemed admitted, except for the allegation that the care

and treatment afforded by the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, in operating and maintaining hospitals, was “without compensation.” Such allegation, “without compensation,” under plaintiff’s stipulation, was to be deemed denied. Trans. 72-4; Abst. 12-13.)

“(b) That at all times mentioned in said complaint the defendant has been and now is a corporation, organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah, and engaged in operating and maintaining a general hospital in Salt Lake City, Utah, and that during all of said time, the defendant has been and now is a non-profit and non-stock corporation owned wholly and solely by said Church as an institution and not through any stock ownership, and has been and now is operated and maintained, in part, by contributions, donations and payments made by said Church and by said other corporations sole exercising local jurisdiction, as aforesaid. That all of said contributions, donations and payments have been and now are derived from voluntary gifts made by the individual members of said Church.” (Trans. 20; Abst. 9.)

(It was also stipulated by plaintiffs that the allegations of sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 9 of defendant’s amended answer, might be deemed admitted. (Trans. 75; Abst. -13.)

“(c) That at all times mentioned in said complaint, the Price First Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints has been and now is a corporation sole, organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Utah, and exercising ecclesiastical jurisdiction

over what has been and now is known as the "First Ward of Price," and that during all of said time said Price First Corporation has been and now is a non-profit and non-stock corporation, owned wholly and solely by said Church as an institution and not through any stock ownership, and among other things, has been and now is engaged, with other similar corporations sole also exercising ecclesiastical jurisdiction in the various localities throughout the State of Utah and elsewhere, in collecting voluntary offerings and gifts from the members of said Church residing in their respective localities, the proceeds of which said offerings and gifts, in part, have been and now are donated to the defendant corporation and used by it in meeting the expense incident to the care and hospitalization of the indigent sick and injured members of said Church in said localities; that in the event said offerings and gifts were insufficient to defray said expense, it has been and now is the practice and custom of said Church to pay, from its central and general fund, the amount of such deficiency, and that in the even said offerings and gifts were in excess of the amount necessary to defray said expense, it has been and now is the practice and custom of said Price First Corporation, and said other corporations sole exercising similar jurisdiction, to pay the amount of said excess into the central and general fund of said Church. That in making said contributions, donations and payments to the defendant corporation, said Church and said Price First Corporation, together with said other similar corporations sole, act only as conduits by and through which the voluntary offerings and gifts of the individual members of said Church are conveyed to the defendant corporation." (Trans. 20-21; Abst. 9-11.)

(It was also stipulated by plaintiffs that the allegations of sub-paragraph (c) of paragraph 9 of defendant's amended answer, might be deemed admitted, with the qualification that the Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints may call upon the Bishops of the local wards having patients hospitalized in the defendant hospital, to contribute their pro rata share of the expenses incurred for said hospitalization; that when so called upon the local wards attempt to encourage their members to make sufficient donations for said purposes; and that the Presiding Bishopric of said Church, in the event such funds are insufficient to cover the expenses of said hospital, meets said deficit by drawing on the general funds of said Church. Trans. 75-83; Abst. 13.)

“(d) That on and prior to February 16, 1939, Jean Brown Potter, the deceased named in plaintiff's complaint, was an indigent person and a member of said First Ward of Price; that on February 16, 1939, said deceased, as a charity patient, and not otherwise, was admitted into the hospital maintained and operated by the defendant corporation as aforesaid, and that thereupon said Price First Corporation, in furtherance of its practice and custom to assist in the maintenance of said hospital, assumed to and did contribute to the defendant corporation, from said voluntary offerings and gifts; that thereafter the defendant corporation, without compensation, rendered hospital and medical services for said deceased to and including the date of her death, which occurred on February 23, 1939; that in performing said hospital and medical services, without compensation as aforesaid, the defendant corporation acted as and was a charitable institution and was exempt

from liability for the negligent acts of its employees, agents and servants, and that if said deceased suffered injuries, resulting in her death, as alleged in said complaint, or at all, by reason of the negligent acts of any of its employees, agents or servants, which the defendant corporation denies, the defendant corporation nevertheless is not liable for damages resulting from said alleged negligence and said death.” (Trans. 21-23; Abst. 11-12.)

(As to the allegations of sub-paragraph (d) of paragraph 9 of defendant’s amended answer, plaintiff also stipulated that when deceased entered the defendant hospital there was no charge entered or made by the hospital to the deceased, or to any member of her immediate family; that no amount has ever been paid to the hospital for deceased’s care and maintenance, and that no amount has been paid by the Price First Ward, which has been earmarked or designated to go to the hospital for deceased’s care and maintenance. Trans. 84-88; Abst. 13-14.)

At the outset of the trial, a stipulation relating to the testimony of Harold Barnes, Superintendent of the defendant hospital, was also entered into. The stipulation is reflected in the abstract as follows:

(It was also stipulated by the parties that if Mr. Harold Barnes, superintendent of the defendant hospital, were present, he would testify as follows: that it is the custom of the defendant hospital, when a patient is received in the hospital, to make a record of the entrance of that patient in the expense records of the hospital; that from day to day, as services are rendered, the customary

charge is made and charged against the patient's record; that the amount of that charge is dependent upon the amount and type of service and the room furnished; that at the end of the service the complete charge is made and that in the instant case the total charge made against the deceased was \$55.30; that since the date of deceased's death the defendant hospital has received a contribution from the Price First Ward, of which Ward deceased was a member, of \$10.00 only; that the hospital record, marked plaintiffs' Exhibit A, is the hospital record of deceased during the period of her hospitalization in the defendant hospital. Trans. 89-90; Abst. 14.)

But one witness (Jennie I. Potter, a daughter—Trans. 95 Abst. 15) was called by respondents. She testified that her mother, Mrs. Potter, suffering from a heart ailment (arterio sclerosis), entered the hospital on the evening of Thursday, February 16, 1939, and was assigned to one of the wards; that no special nurse was engaged the first night, but that a board, about twelve inches wide, was fastened with ropes to one side of the bed and that the other side was against the wall; that she did not see the board in that position thereafter, but that she employed a special nurse for Friday, Saturday and Sunday nights; that on Monday one of the floor nurses expressed the opinion that Mrs. Potter seemed to be doing so well, which fact was noticed by the witness, that they might well obviate the expense of a special nurse, and, being desirous of avoiding that expense, the witness consented to the floor nurse releasing the special nurse. No special nurse was in attendance Monday night.

Miss Potter also testified that she saw her mother daily and that she seemed quite nervous and at times became irrational. (Trans. 106-7; Abst. 17-18.) She was also permitted to give the substance of a conversation between Dr. Gill Richards and Dr. Llewellyn, occurring on February 22nd. The former stated to the latter doctor that one of Mrs. Potter's lungs was filled with pneumonia, which was a direct result of her falling out of bed. Drs. Richards and Llewellyn were members of the hospital staff, and Dr. Richards was assigned by the hospital to Mrs. Potter's case.

The details of what occurred on Monday night are found in the testimony of the night nurse furnished by the hospital, and Mrs. Potter's chart made up by that nurse:

Leona Felix (Trans. 246; Abst. 54) went on duty at eleven o'clock P. M. Monday and remained until seven o'clock A. M. Tuesday. When first seen, around twelve o'clock midnight, Mrs. Potter was sitting in bed at an angle of 45 or 60 degrees. In the same ward with her, Room No. 437, was another patient by the name of Mrs. Kearney, whom Miss Felix attended for some little time about midnight. Mrs. Potter was then awake; she seemed very rational and was not at all restless. (Trans. 257; Abst. 265.) Miss Felix left the two patients and went into the adjoining room, No. 436. Shortly thereafter, both patients began to talk very loud. Miss Felix immediately returned to their room, where she saw Mrs. Potter, in a



sitting posture on the bed, with her legs and feet dangling over the edge. She appeared as if she were getting ready to get off the bed. While Miss Felix was trying to get to her, Mrs. Potter got off the bed and the nurse was only able partially to break the fall. At the instant Mrs. Potter fell, Mrs. Kearney exclaimed, "I told her not to go to the bathroom. She said she was going to the bathroom." In the fall from the bed, the patient sustained a fractured hip and died two days later, February 23.

Mrs. Potter's hospital chart (Exhibit A), consisting of some 20 pages, contains the usual records made and kept by hospitals, including a detailed daily Clinical Record made by the attending nurses. The last page of the chart contains the record of death, and the nine pages, immediately preceding, constitute the Clinical Record. The period from 7 P. M. to 7 A. M. of each day is shown in red ink; the intervening period, in blue ink.

From the first page of the Clinical Record, it will be noted that Mrs. Potter was first assigned to Room 203 at 8:30 P. M. on February 16, 1939. At 10 P. M. there is a notation, "Side board on bed." Between February 16 and February 21, there are notations of "labored respiration;" "mind more clear, and is more cooperative;" "sleeping soundly;" "complains of smothering sensation;" and "sleeping." As heretofore stated, no special nurse was in attendance on Monday night, February 20-21. At 12:15 A. M., February 21, the notation reads "awake—not restless." It was at this time that Miss

Felix stated she was in the room, attending Mrs. Kearney. Following this notation, we find another made at 12:20 A. M.: "Talking—pt. (patient) sitting on edge of bed with legs down, reaching for the floor—fell as nurse entered the room. Complains of left hip pain—helped back to bed, crying and complaining of pain. Visited by Dr. Bourne—exam.—Side boards placed on one side bed."

Neoma Mason, a graduate and experienced nurse, also testified for appellant. (Trans. 189; Abst. 37.) She was one of the two medical supervisors assigned to the ward in which Mrs. Potter was hospitalized. She stated (Trans. 198; Abst. 40) that Mrs. Potter was first put in Room 203, Division 2-a; later, Sunday morning, she was transferred to Room 437, Division 4-b. She was first seen by the witness on Friday morning; was very restless most of the time. On Monday morning, when seen by Miss Mason, Mrs. Potter was more restful and seemed to enjoy the association with Mrs. Kearney. Nothing, the witness stated, either as a result of her observations or of conversations with the other nurses, indicated that sideboards were necessary for Mrs. Potter.

Rhoda Larson, also a graduate nurse (Trans. 222; Abst. 47), held a similar position to Miss Mason. She saw Mrs. Potter daily, except possibly for one day; on Monday afternoon, comparing her observations then with those made on previous days, she noted a marked improvement in the mental condition of Mrs. Potter. The latter was perfectly rational and very well oriented, and

seemed happy at being in the hospital. Side boards, the witness stated, were sometimes put on when patients seemed irrational and restless. When such was not the case, or when they were unconscious, boards were not used. The witness further stated that many patients resented the use of sideboards, as they gave them a shut-in feeling and made them more restless. She expressed the opinion that in Mrs. Potter's case sideboards would not be necessary.

The respondent, John Potter, was 77 years old; his deceased wife, 71 years old. The youngest of the remaining respondents, the surviving children, was 32 years old. All of the children had been married and had lived separate and apart from their parents for many years, ranging from three (Jennie I. Potter) to 31 years (Sarah Potter Gibbs). (Trans. 116-120; Abst. 22-23.) The parents were not assisting, *and for a long period of time had not assisted*, any of the children. On the other hand, some of the children were in the habit of making small contributions to their parents, and those living at Price, Utah, the parental home, assisted their mother at times with her housework. The financial condition of the couple, and the extent of the contributions and assistance rendered by the children, are shown in the testimony of Jennie I. Potter. The abstract reflects the testimony as follows: (Trans. 130; Abst. 25):

“I have tried to help in supporting mother. She has been receiving a pension of \$24.00 a month. I haven't been paying her any definite sum. When

she needed clothes, I bought them for her. During the past year I have not contributed very much; just presents and gifts; I haven't given anything regularly. My father also got a pension of \$17.00 a month. While they were at home they were always saving what they didn't need, and they used that money here in Salt Lake City. When they needed extra money I gave it to them. My brother would also give them a gift when he thought they needed it. My brother didn't contribute very much. Sometimes he would go up there and give them a dollar or two when he thought they needed a little extra money. It wouldn't amount to very much each month. My sister, Sarah Potter Gibbs, did not contribute anything. Neither did my sister, Nettie Potter Miles, contribute to their support. While my parents were in Price Mrs. Miles would help mother around the home. She would help her with her housework. My sister, May Potter Stewart, contributed just about the same as my brother; just a few dollars. My sister Edith Potter Dewey, who lived in Los Angeles, contributed very little. Mrs. Gibbs, my sister living in Price, would also help mother with the housework. During the past year practically all of us children have been contributing some little money to the support and maintenance of our mother. In addition to that the children who were living in the same community with mother would contribute their services in helping her with the housework."

Respondents pleaded special damages in the total amount of \$290.00 and offered evidence as to four items: Casket and other funeral expenses, \$190.00; burial lot,

\$33.00; Wallace Mortuary at Price, Utah, \$15.00; and burial clothing, \$20.00; a total \$258.00. (Trans. 115; Abst. 21-22.)

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