1940

John Potter, David B. Potter, Jennie I. Potter, Sarah
Potter Gibbs, Nettie Potter Miles, May Potter
Stewart, Edith Potter Dewey v. Dr. W. H. Groves
Latter-Day Saints Hospital : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

Appellant's 12th Assignment of Error and grounds 3, 4, 9 and 10 of their 13th Assignment question the sufficiency of the evidence to support a finding of negligence against the hospital.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF NEGLIGENCE

We submit that the evidence is more than ample in this regard. Mrs. Potter, the deceased, entered the hospital upon February 16, 1939, suffered her fall upon February 20th and died upon February 23rd. Prior to her fall she had been a very nervous, restless patient. At times she had been irrational and out of her head, talking aimlessly and incoherently. Apparently the patient did not, upon occasion, know she was in a hospital at all. The daughter, Jennie, testified (Tr. 107; Ab. 17-18) in regard to her mother's mental condition:

"She Would tell us: 'See this beautiful new room in the hotel they moved me in.' The next time she would say, 'Oh, I don't like this room in this hotel.' Then she would change her mind about it. One day

she was talking to me, and then she started to laugh. She said, 'Oh, I thought we were down in Kress' shopping.' "

Mrs. Potter's condition was well known to the appellant hospital, for the Clinical Record (Exhibit A) shows the patient to be upon February 17th "very restless." This record for February 18th includes notations by the nurse on duty, that the patient's "mind is much confused," that the patient was "talking incoherently," that she was "very restless," that she was "irrational." February 19th shows these notations by the nurses: "Extreme restlessness," "still very restless," "patient is irrational," "very noisy and restless." February 20th reports the patient to be "very much confused" and her "condition unchanged."

The Clinical Record also shows that the patient did from time to time try to get out of bed. This Record for February 18th shows that the patient was "very restless—trying to get out of tent;" and during the night "irrational, tries to get out of bed." Upon the next day, February 19th, the day before her fall, the Clinical Record shows that the patient succeeded in getting out of bed. The record notation shows: "Patient out of bed."

We submit that it takes no expert to draw the conclusion that a patient who is "irrational" and "very much confused," and who "tries to get out of bed" and who does get "out of bed," needs to be watched or guarded. The Supreme Court of Minnesota, speaking in a case involving a pneumonia patient who, during a temporary delirium, fell or jumped from a hospital window, states:

"When a patient enters a hospital, knowing that the number of nurses is less than

the number of patients, he may not expect constant attendance, but the patient is entitled to such reasonable attention as his safety may require. (Citing authorities). If the patient is temporarily bereft of reason, and is known by the hospital authorities to be in danger of self-destruction, the authorities are in duty bound to use reasonable care to prevent such an act."

Mulliner v. Evangelischer Diakonniessenverein, etc., 175 Northwestern 699.

And in the instant case Mrs. Potter was watched and guarded until the night of her fall. Upon her admission to the hospital, upon the night of February 16th, sideboards were placed upon her bed by the hospital. (Tr. 230; Clinical Record, Feb. 16). Upon the nights of February 17th, 18th and 19th a special nurse employed by the Potter family was in constant attendance to the deceased. (Tr. 102; Ab. 17). But upon the night of February 20th no sideboards were in place and, at the suggestion of Rhoda Larsen, Supervisor of Nurses at the appellant hospital, the services of the special nurse were dispensed with. Miss Larsen testified that she told members of the Potter family:

"I told them, as far as their mother's condition was concerned and the treatment she had to have could very easily be taken care of by the floor nurses." (Tr. 233; Ab. 50).

It was upon this night, while totally unguarded, that Mrs. Potter suffered her fall, breaking her hip. Pneumonia set in almost immediately and she died upon February 23rd.

We repeat, that under these facts, it takes no expert to draw the conclusion that Mrs. Potter should have been guarded in some manner. But

such testimony is helpful, and appears in the record. Miss Leona Felix, a witness for the appellant hospital upon *direct* examination, in response to a question *put by counsel for the hospital* as to why she had placed a sideboard on Mrs. Potter's bed *after the fall*, answered in these words:

Q. "And why did you put the board on at all ?

A. *Well, it just seems like anything — any nurse would think, after getting out, if they got out once, they would try it again..*

Q. And that was the reason for putting it on?

A. Yes." (Tr. 284; inaccurately stated in Ab. 61).

It will be remembered that *prior* to her fall Mrs. Potter had tried to get, and had been, out of bed upon several occasions. "*Any nurse would think, after getting out, if they got out once, they would try it again.*" This was the opinion of the appellant hospital's own expert.

Compliance or 'non-compliance with the customary methods in hospitals does not furnish a controlling test of negligence.

"The generally accepted view is that customary methods or conduct do not furnish a test which is conclusive or controlling on the question of negligence, or fix a standard by which negligence is to be gauged. The standard of due care, is such care as a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances of the particular case, and conformity to customary or usual conduct or methods cannot amount to more than a circumstance of the case in determining

whether due care has been exercised. Accordingly, if the conduct pursued or the methods adopted in the particular case do not measure up to the ordinary care which would be exercised by a prudent person under the circumstances, negligence may be found to exist notwithstanding such conduct or methods were in accordance with those customarily pursued or adopted. The reason is that the usual mode of doing a particular thing may involve a lack of proper care”

45 Corpus Juris 707, et seq. See also, Jenkins v. Hooper Irr. Co. 13 Utah 100; 44 Pac. 829.

We submit that there was very satisfactory evidence of negligence upon the part of the hospital.

APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO PROPERLY GUARD MRS. POTTER WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF HER DEATH.

It is not denied by appellant upon this appeal that Mrs. Potter died as a result of the injuries she sustained in the fall occurring upon February 20th. However, under the heading of proximate cause, appellant in their 13th Assignment, grounds 5, 6, 7 and 8, state that there is no evidence in the record to show that even though the hospital had used ordinary care in the nursing of the deceased, still it would have been physically possible for the accident to have happened. To have offered evidence to negative this proposition would have been unique under the law of negligence. For example,

a man is struck and killed by a railroad train running at excessive speed and without lights. Having proved that the active negligence of the railroad caused the deceased's death, would it be necessary to show that had the train been going slow and had been burning lights the accident would not have happened? Emphatically not, although it is physically possible for a person to be killed by a slow moving, fully lighted train.

And in the case at bar, although it is *possible* for any person in a bed to fall out and suffer injuries, still it is the most reasonable of all assumptions that had the deceased been properly guarded she would not have so fallen. Experience has taught the layman that a fall from bed is an unusual occurrence and one that does not happen in the course of ordinary events. But every father and every mother knows that small children are in danger of falling from bed and that cribs have guards (sideboards) to prevent such an occurrence. And every nurse knows that an irrational person trying to get out of bed is apt to fall and should be restrained. The testimony of the witness Felix, above quoted, bears this out.

THE DECEASED'S CRITICAL CONDITION
UPON HER ADMISSION TO THE HOSPITAL DOES NOT RELIEVE THE HOSPITAL OF ANY DUTY TO PROPERLY TREAT, BUT ON THE CONTRARY INCREASES THE DEGREE OF CARE DUE THE PATIENT.

The examination of Mrs. Potter upon her admission to the hospital revealed her to be a seriously ill patient but that with proper treatment her condition could be improved. (Tr. 280; Ab. 60). Her critical condition most certainly did not relieve

the hospital from any duty it owed the patient. Such a cruel rule would shame the law. This patient's physical condition and her advanced age required the hospital to exercise additional caution and vigilance in treating her.

45 Corpus Juris, 701.

THE EVIDENCE IS OVERWHELMING THAT THE DECEASED FELL OUT OF BED.

Appellant's first and second grounds of their 13th Assignment and their 22nd Assignment claim there was no evidence to show deceased fell out of bed. Sufficient answer to this claim is to quote from the record without further comment.

The Clinical Record for February 21st at 12:20 A. M. shows:

"Talking— patient sitting on edge of bed with legs down — reached for the floor — fell as nurse entered the room. Complains left hip paining — helped back to bed. Crying and complaining of pain."

Dr. John Boorne, the examining physician of the hospital, in his report of the accident (first page of Exhibit A. the Statistical and Summary Sheet), reports the accident thus:

"Fell out of bed and broke hip. Soon after died of pneumonia."

In his direct testimony Dr. Boorne made this statement:

Q. "And what did you have in mind by that description, 'fell out of bed?'"

A. I merely meant that she — well, fell

out of the bed on the floor.” (Tr. 287 and not appearing in Appellant’s Abstract).

And the witness Felix who witnessed the fall, thought the deceased fell out of bed for she testified:

“*After she fell out* she was extremely restless and she did move around a great deal.” (Tr. 284; Ab. 61).

And Doctors Richards and Llewellyn, employees of the hospital, told Miss Jennie Potter that her mother had fallen out of bed for Miss Potter testified:

Q. “Did they (the doctors) say at that time anything about any injury to your mother?”

A. Yes, they told us about a fractured hip from falling out of bed, and they said they couldn’t do anything.” (Tr. 111; Ab. 19).

Appellant’s 10th Assignment complains of the following question asked the witness, Jennie I. Potter:

Q. “What, if anything, did you do by way of special nurse after the injury to your mother?” (Tr. 115; Ab. 21).

By the great weight of authority medical expenses which have been paid by the beneficiaries of a deceased person arising from the fatal injury complained of are proper elements for recovery.

17 Corpus Juris, 1338-9.

However in this case we submit that this particular question is moot, the trial court having not submitted this element of damage to the jury for consideration. (Instruction No. 9; Ab. 78). And we

here call attention to the trial court's Instructions Nos. 3, 4, 5 and 6 as fully presenting and submitting appellant's theory of the case to the jury contrary to appellant's contention in their 20th Assignment.

UNDER THE UTAH WRONGFUL DEATH
STATUTE THE PECUNIARY VALUE OF
THE LOSS OF SOCIETY AND COM-
PANIONSHIP AND LOSS OF SERVICES
OF THE DECEASED TO HER BENEFI-
CIARIES IS A PROPER SUBJECT OF IN-
QUIRY AND ELEMENT OF DAMAGE.

The trial court in its Instruction No. 9 submitted to the jury the question of the pecuniary loss, if any, sustained by the surviving husband and children by way of loss of society and companionship caused by the death of the mother; also the pecuniary loss, if any, sustained by the husband only through loss of services. Such a charge is proper and has long been the law of this State. In

Evans v. Oregon Short Line Railroad Co.,
37 Utah 431; 108 Pac. 638,

this Court in upholding this proposition at page 437 states:

“We think that, in connection with the evidence showing what the deceased has contributed to the family for support and maintenance, the wife and children may also show the affection the deceased entertained for them, his disposition and deportment toward them, his counsel and advice, and his care and kindly solicitude for their welfare insofar as these things were

made effective by his acts, and that the jury may consider all these things in connection with the evidence of the amount the deceased contributed for support, as aforesaid, in arriving at the amount which the widow and minor children shall receive as compensation for the injury sustained by them by reason of the death of the husband and father.”

And again at page 440 says:

“Whatever is allowed by the jury must be by way of pecuniary recompense for the loss sustained by the wife and minor children, and must be strictly limited (1) to what the evidence shows the deceased contributed, and thus would probably have continued to contribute to them in money or other means by way of support and as an accumulation to his estate; and (2) to the money value of the injury suffered by the wife and minor children by reason of the loss of the advice, comfort and society which they enjoyed prior to the death of the deceased and which would have continued for their benefit. If the evidence is to the effect that the widow and minor children suffered no loss upon the first ground because the deceased provided neither money nor other means of support, they still may be entitled to something upon the second ground, because the society of the deceased may have been a comfort and his advice of material assistance to them. Again, a wife and children may have lost little or nothing upon either or both grounds, and the jury should then compensate them only for what they have

lost, and, in case they have lost upon both grounds, they should receive compensation to the extent of their loss.”

Mrs. Potter for many, many years and up to the time of her last illness had been rendering real and tangible service to her husband. We quote from the testimony of the daughter:

Q. “She didn’t wait on your father?

A. Yes, she waited on my father.

Q. What did she do for him after October, 1938?

A. She kept care of his clothes, seeing that he was fed and dressed, and he is quite a care.” (Tr. 125; Ab. 24-5).

In other words the testimony of the daughter Jennie above was to the effect that her mother kept house for her father up to the time of her death. Mr. Potter, the husband, being a semi-invalid, no woman could render greater service. Such services, those usual to mothers and wives, are of real pecuniary value difficult though it be to place an exact dollar and cents value upon them.

No testimony was introduced, no claim was made, for any loss of services to the children and this element was not submitted to the jury. The element of loss of services was limited strictly to those suffered by the husband.

The husband and all the children were deprived of the society and companionship of their mother by her death. This loss represented a real pecuniary loss to them as much as is possible or usual in any case. The Potter family was a harmonious

and affectionate group. There was no discord. We again quote from the testimony of the daughter:

Q. "What was your mother's ability as a housewife? (Tr. 112; not in appellant's Abstract).

A. She had always been an excellent housewife.

Q. What was the relationship between your father and mother so far as being affectionate to each other? (Tr. 113; Ab. 19-20).

A. Well, they have been married for fifty-three years and they have always been happy together.

Q. And as to companionship?

A. Well, they were always together and they worked together in everything. There was no disharmony in our home at all.

Q. And what had been the conduct and attitude of your mother toward her children throughout her life and continuing on up to the time of her death?

A. Well, she was the grandest mother in the world, I think, and she had always been just grand to us. She has worked with us at all times and helped us in everything we have gone through."

Appellant quotes at length from *White v. Shipley*, 48 Utah 496; 160 Pacific 441, as being applicable to the facts in the case at bar. We submit that the *White* case is clearly distinguishable and in no way affects the law as we have stated it. In the *White* case *the* children of the deceased were not named in the complaint as beneficiaries, were not parties to the action, and the only mention of

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